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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Cloister Complex is located in an area of Louisville known as Phoenix Hill, about
nine blocks east of the central part of the city. The Complex occupies the southeastern
corner of East Chestnut and South Shelby Streets and contains three structures around
an inner courtyard which formerly housed the Ursuline Convent and Academy and the
Convent Chapel. The surrounding neighborhood is a mixture of unpretentious late nine-
teenth century and early twentieth century residences and commercial buildings. After
some years of decline, the area is experiencing something of a renaissance (photos 1,

2, 3, 5; map 2).

The Ursuline Convent Chapel is the corner structure in the Cloister Complex. It was
built in 1867-68 and designed by a Cincinnati architect, John Bast. Constructed of
dark red brick with limestone trim, it is in the Romanesque Revival style with typical
round-arch forms and brick corbelling. The large scale entry of white-painted stone

is topped by a cross and has recessed double doors of dark-stained wood. The central
tower portion of the facade contains a double window with round-arched top surmounted
by a stained glass rose window. Other windows contain stained glass, some original and
some dating from a 1900 renovation of the Chapel. The tower is topped by an octagonal
spire. The vari-colored diapering pattern of the roof is still visible (photos 1, 2,
3, and 4).

The interior of the Chapel still has the original wall paintings executed in 1868 by
Johann Schmitt, a Covington, Kentucky artist known primarily for his paintings of
religious subjects for numerous churches in Kentucky, Ohio, and other mid-west states.
The paintings depict various saints, including St. Ursula and St. Angela, patron saints
of the Ursuline Order (photos 3).

East of the Chapel and fronting on Chestnut Street is a three-story, brick building
erected in 1900-01 to house the Ursuline Convent and Academy. It was designed by
Louisville architect, Cornelius A. Curtin, and built on the site of the first convent
structure, erected in 1860 and razed in 1899. The Convent is of a very simple,
modified Italianate style with no decorative detailing other than the paneled and
arched entryway topped with a cross. The easternmost portion of this building was a
later addition, probably built in the 1930s. The convent building is set back from the
street behind a brick wall with recessed panels and an arched opening framed by white
painted limestone. There are wrought-iron gates at the entry (photos 2, 4, 5).

East of the convent building is another structure now a part of the Cloister Complex.
It is a two-and-one-half story brick residence of Italianate design. The asymmetrical
facade has elaborate limestone window hoods consisting of broken and straightened
pediments supported by carved brackets. A similar pedimented hood with larger brackets
is above the recessed entry. The small attic windows have heavy cornices and paired
brackets. A double-windowed dormer was probably added in the twentieth century (photos
6, 7, 14).

The Cloister Complex includes an inner courtyard with trees, flowers and shrubbery. The
rear of the former convent building faces this courtyard. Across the yard on the south
side are one and two-story brick buildings said to be some of the earlier structures
erected for the Convent and Academy. On the west side of the courtyard is a twentieth-
century addition at the rear of the Chapel. A stone grotto in the court was reportedly

built with foundation stones from the 1860 Convent building which was razed in 1899
(phOtOS 8; 9, 10: 11, 12, 13).
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The Ursuline Academy, now known as The Cloister, is situated in an old residential
neighborhood east of downtown Louisville. Located on the southeast corner of Shelby
and Chestnut Street, it is immediately east of the area now known as the Health Sciences
Complex of the University of Louisville. The Chapel, Convent, and Academy were built

to serve the needs of the neighborhood and house the Ursuline Sisters and are fine
examples of the Romanesque Revival and Italianate styles.

The Ursuline Sisters had come from Straubing Bavaria to St. Martins on Shelby Street
in 1858 at the request of Bishop Martin John Spalding of Louisville. For two years,
the Sisters lived in a frame cottage on nearby Campbell Street while teaching the
children of German immigrants in St. Martins parish. A convent was begun in September
of 1859 facing Chestnut Street and was completed in 1860. In September of that year,
the Academy opened with 60 students. This first convent structure is no longer extant.
One of the students in 1867 was the actress, Mary Anderson.

A small two-story building was erected in the 1860s on the rear of the courtyard and
is extant as are other structures such as a laundry from the 1870s.

The Chapel was completed in 1869 and was designed by John Bast of Cincinnati. Bast

was a carpenter and architect who worked in Cincinnati and Louisville in the 1860s.

The Chapel of red brick and limestone with its diaper pattern roof is a diminutive
church with a proliferation of round arches. The interior of the Chapel is 1lit by
patterned stained glass windows. It is decorated by murals depicting the 1life of

St. Ursula. They were executed by Johann Schmitt (1825-1898) of Covington, Kentucky.
Schmitt was born in Heimstadt, Baden, Germany and came to the United States after the
German Revolution in 1848. He came to Covington, Kentucky to be the principal painter
of altar pieces in a company formed to provide altars for mission churches in Covington.
Schmitt painted altars and decorated churches in Kentucky, Indiana, and Ohio. He
became active in the Society of Christian Art in Cincinnati. The paintings in the
Ursuline Chapel were done in 1868 and 1872 (photos 2, 3, and 4). The Chapel was renovated
in 1900 and electric lights were added.

The Convent and Academy were designed in 1899 by Cornelius A. Curtin (1853-1926),

a well known Louisville architect. In 1889, Curtin had designed the Columbia Building,
the first skyscraper in the area. The ten-story building is no longer extant. He
designed the City Hall Annex in 1907-09 (City Hall Complex, National Register-September,
1976). Curtin had worked originally under Bradshaw, a local architect. Curtin was

a charter member of the old Louisville Chapter of AIA, forerunner of the Kentucky chapter.

The dignified, symmetrical facade with its round-arched entrance portico echoes the
motifs of the Chapel (photo 4). According to tradition, some of the bricks and beams

(continued)
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from the old convent were reused, and the Sisters scraped the old mortar from the
bricks after the workmen had left. Mr. Henry Bickel dug the excavation and Juliss
Piazzo and Son laid the foundation for the new Convent and Academy. Completed

in September of 1900, the new structure had offices, a library, a parlor, music

rooms, a community room and refectory. The second and third floors had classrooms,
sleeping cells, an infirmary and lavatories. In the twentieth century, various

additions have been made within the complex (photo 1). The entire area is surrounded
by a brick wall with wrought-iron gates.

In 1870, the Ursuline Society purchased the property on which 816 East Chestnut is
built (photos 6 and 7, view 1). The Italianate townhouse was built prior to 1884 as
it appears on the 1884 Atlas (view 3). It was apparently used as auxiliary living
quarters and represents a fine example of a late nineteenth century townhouse. The
structure is larger and more elaborate than other residential structures in the
immediate area.

The old Ursuline Academy Complex was an integral part of its neighborhood and
signifies the role the Ursuline Sisters had in the history of education in Louisville.

The Complex has examples of late nineteenth century religious and educational structures
designed by regional architects. Cornelius Curtin, who designed the Convent in 1899,
was an architect of major importance in Louisville, executing designs in the neo-
classical and Beaux Arts styles of architecture in the late nineteenth and early

twentieth centuries. The Complex is one of only several integrated educational units

of this type extant in the city.
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New York, 1947.
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Letter from Sister M. Concetta Waller, Ursuline Sisters, Louisville, Kentucky,
12 October 1976,
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ADDENDUM

The northwest boundary of the nominated area is marked by the southeast corner

of Shelby and Chestnut Streets and extends southward along the east side of

Shelby Street to an alley between and running parallel to Chestnut and Gray Streets
and located to the rear of the Old Classroom buildings within the Ursuline Academy
Complex. The boundary then turns eastward following the north side of the alley
to the eastward extent of lot 6l. The boundary then turns northward, following the
line demarking lot 61 from the adjacent lot 62 to the south side of Chestnut Street.
The boundary then turns westward along the southside of Chestnut to the southeast
corner of Chestnut and Shelby.
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Ursuline Academy-The Cloister
800 East Chestnut Street
Louisville, Jefferson, Kentucky
View No. 2. Site plan showing
building configuration §& loca-

tion. 0CT 311977
JUN 13 1978
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Ursuline Academy-The Cloister
800 East Chestnut Street
Louisville, Jefferson, Kentucky
Atlas of the City of Louisville
§ Environs. Kentucky,
Louisville: G. M. Hopkins,
1884.

Map No. 2, 1884 Atlas.
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Ursuline Academy-The Cloister
800 East Chestnut Street
Louisville, Jefferson, Kentucky
Sanborn Map Co., Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania

Map No. 3. Sanborn maps showing
current location. =

JUN 15 1978
0CT 311977
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Ursuline Academy and Convent
Louisville

Jefferson CountyJUN | 5 1978
Kentucky

Sketch Plan

May 1978

No Scale
Map 4.
Sketch map of nominated area



